THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Richard L. Booth, Sumter County Master-in-Equity

---

Case No. 2015-000349  
Trial Court Case No. 2010-CP-43-00823

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.,

Respondent,

v.

Delores Prescott and Wells Fargo Financial Bank (SD), Defendants,  
Of Whom Delores Prescott is the Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Delores Prescott, *Pro se*  
10 Skytop Gardens, Apt. 23  
Parlin, New Jersey 08859  
Appellant  
(732) 485-8145

February 25, 2016

RECEIVED  
FEB 29 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE MASTER IN EQUITY ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON A MISINTERPRETATION OF THE BANKRUPTCY TERM ABANDONMENT?
- II. DID THE MASTER IN EQUITY ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON THE DOCTRINE OF JUDICIAL ESTOPPEL?
- III. DID THE MASTER IN EQUITY ERR IN BARRING APPELLANT'S COUNTERCLAIMS AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES BY THE DOCTRINES OF RES JUDICATA AND COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL?
- IV. DID THE MASTER IN EQUITY ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN REPENDENT'S FAVOR ON APPELLANT'S AMENDED ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIMS AS A MATTER OF LAW?
- V. DID THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE APPELLANT'S AMENDED ANSWER AND COUNTERCLAIM STATING TIMELY CAUSES OF ACTION AND DEFENSES AUTHORIZED BY LAW?
- VI. DID THE MASTER IN EQUITY ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGEMENT ON APPELLANT'S COUNTERCLAIM STATING TIMELY CAUSES OF ACTION FOR FRAUD AND NEGLIGENT MISPRESENTATION AS A MATTER OF LAW?
- VII. DID THE MASTER IN EQUITY ERR IN BARRING APPELLANT'S BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM AS A MATTER OF LAW?
- VIII. DID THE MASTER IN EQUITY ERR BY ASSERTING APPELLANT'S NOVEMBER 2014 AFFIDAVIT IS A "SHAM" AS A MATTER OF LAW?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent moved for Summary Judgment May 2014. Alleging judicial estoppel, collateral estoppel and res judicata on Appellant's counterclaims and defense because a party cannot make a representation to a court to induce to rule one way, and then make the opposite representation to a court to achieve a different outcome.

A hearing was held November 19, 2014. The Order of Summary Judgment was decided January 9, 2015 and filed on the record January 13, 2015. (R. p. 2).

Appellant received written notice of entry for the order of Summary Judgment Friday, January 30<sup>th</sup>, 2015 at 4:53 p.m. via electronic mail from Robert C. Ray, Attorney stating the Order of Summary Judgment including emails of the decision which, resulted in the conclusion of this case. The email advised Appellant she had until February 12, 2015 to appeal the Order of Summary Judgment. Appellant submitted a timely Notice of Appeal to all relevant counsel and the Court of Appeals via certified mail. (R. p. 216).

Counsel withdrew representation on Appeal. Appellant move the Court to withdraw counsel. Appellant was not able to secure a South Carolina attorney. Appellant has prepared this brief *pro se*.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

A foreclosure action can be defeated by pleading and proving an equitable defense. *See Wachovia Bank, N.A. v. Coffey*, 389 S.C. 68, 74-76, 698 S.E.2d 244, 247-48 (Ct. App. 2010). Appellant has alleged that Respondent should be barred from foreclosing on the note and mortgage because of its inequitable conduct, including its efforts to induce Appellant's default, its misrepresentations regarding loan modification from 2009 through 2010 which resulted in the aggregation of additional fees and costs, and its failure to properly apply the payments. *Shearer v. DeShon*, 240 S.C. 472, 484, 126 S.E.2d 514, 520 (1962) (stating a party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced). e.g. May 2010 Hshp. Affidavit p. 2-3. (R.pp. 36-38).

Respondent has not denied the factual allegations of Appellant's claims, and they are issues of material fact that have not been resolved. Because there is an ongoing dispute about whether the Respondent has come to court with "clean hands", the Order for Summary Judgment should be reversed. e.g. Op. in Sup. of Sum Jud. p. 8. (R. p. 179).

For the above-stated reasons, Appellant respectfully requests that the order granting Summary Judgment be reversed and the Appellant be entitled to a determination of her claims and defenses.

## **BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

### **I. THE MORTGAGE**

September 2001, Appellant had a permanent residential mortgage with Principal Mortgage on her residence in Rembert, South Carolina, Sumter County. Appellant's original Mortgage had been with Cardinal Mortgage. (e.g. Motion to Dismiss p. 1-2 (R. p. 73).

In June 24, 2003, Appellant refinanced the mortgage agreement with Watermark Financial Partners, LLC, at her home in Sumter, South Carolina and rescinded the loan on the same day; e.g. Motion to Dismiss p. 1-2. (R. p. 74).

July 2003, a different mortgage document was filed in the Sumter County Register of Deeds, which had been materially altered from the documents Appellant signed; e.g. Ans. P. 8-9, Mot. to Dism p. 3, Exhibit F p.1. (R. p. 75).

### **II. EVENTS WHICH LEAD TO FORECLOSURE ACTION**

#### **Pre-Bankruptcy Discharge May 2009 –Case 05-01906**

e.g. Ex. B, Sum. Sch. Dkt. 1, Cs. 11-01994 p.4 of 60. (R. p. 343, line 2).

October 2008 Appellant became unemployed and notified Respondent of her change in income. Respondent agents and employees advised Appellant that she would not qualify for refinancing or a reduction in interest because her loan was current. e.g. Affidavit Nov. 2014 Exhibit p 1. (R. p. 149).

February of 2009, Respondent's agent Kim Dehining contacted Appellant by telephone and advised President Obama was implementing a new Home Affordable Program and she would be considered for a modification if she defaulted on her loan. Respondent instructed Appellant to reapply for the modification in March of 2009. e.g Affidavit Nov. 2014, Exhibit A p.1. (R. p. 149).

March of 2009, Appellant submitted a hardship letter and an approval letter from the bankruptcy attorney to discuss modification options with Respondent in accordance with the instructions she received from Respondent's agents and employees and commemorating the advice she received from Respondent. e.g Affidavit Nov. 2014, Exhibit A p.1. (R. p. 149).

**Post Bankruptcy May 2009 Discharge Case 05-01906**

Appellant received a discharge from the Bankruptcy Court May 2009. e.g. Ex. B, Sum. Sch. Dkt. 1, Cs. 11-01994 p.4 of 60. (R. p. 343, line 2). Prior to June of 2009 Appellant had made all payments on her note and mortgage and had no accumulated arrearage. e.g. Hshp. Affidavit May 2010, page 1. (R. p. 36, line 4).

**Forbearance Agreements**

Beginning in June of 2009, and continuing through 2010, Appellant entered into a series of "Forbearance Agreements," with the Respondent. Agents and employees of Respondent repeatedly represented to Appellant that if she successfully completed the payments outlined in the agreement that she would be considered for a loan modification e.g. Hshp Affidavit May 2010, p 1-9. (R. pp. 36-39).

Appellant had informed Respondent agents that she was on public assistance in 2009. Respondent agents never informed Appellant that she was ineligible for a FHA Home Affordable Modification because she was unemployed and on public assistance e.g. Hshp Affidavit May 2010 p. 3. (R. p. 38 at ¶15).

Respondent agents continued to represent that it would make a determination about Appellant's eligibility to receive a loan modification during 2010. Despite Appellant's completion of payments under the terms of these agreements, Respondent

never made a determination on Appellant's loan modification for over a year. e.g. Ans. p. 6.

Beginning in early 2010, Appellant started withholding and misapplying Appellant's payments to create false arrearages and penalties on her account, to create the illusion that she was not complying with the forbearance agreements. Respondent failed to apply the payment[s] to any outstanding balance and principal, and instead, held the money as "unapplied funds." e.g. May 2010 Hshp. Affidavit p. 2. (R. p. 37 at ¶5).

The balance and arrearages were only owed because of the new payment schedule designed and encouraged by Respondent, and only remained unpaid because Respondent refused to apply the payments to Appellant's account. The January 2010 payment should have been sufficient to fully reinstate the security instrument under Paragraph 10 of the mortgage. e.g. Hshp Affidavit May 2010, p. 2, (R. p. 37 at ¶6). Ans. p. 6. (R. p. 29 at ¶8).

### **III. FORECLOSURE COMPLAINT**

Paragraph 8 of Respondent's Foreclosure Complaint states "As required by an Administrative Order issued by the South Carolina Supreme Court dated May 22, 2009, the Plaintiff states that, this loan is owned or guaranteed by Fannie Mae, or it is owned or guaranteed by FHLMC, or the Servicer has signed an agreement to participate in the Home Affordable Modification Program ("HMP"); however, Plaintiff alleges upon information and belief, that this loan is not eligible for modification under the HMP because this loan type is not eligible for HMP modification." e.g. Compl. p. 2. (R. p. 19).

Appellant acknowledged in her May 17, 2010 Answer to the Complaint that Respondent did not disclose that the “loan type” was not eligible for a “HMP” or FHA-HAMP modification. e.g. Ans. p. 7-8. (R. pp. 30-31).

Respondent knew that Appellant was ineligible for a modification pursuant to the Home Affordable Modification Program (HAMP), but continued to represent to Appellant that a determination on her eligibility would be made. e.g. Ans. p. 7-8. (R. pp. 30-31).

On April 12, 2010, Respondent issued a 3<sup>rd</sup> Forbearance Agreement to Appellant, but still never made any determination as to her modification, as was promised nine months earlier. The 3<sup>rd</sup> Forbearance Agreement required Appellant to pay \$563.05 a month, beginning May 12, 2010, June 12, 2010 and July 12, 2010. e.g. Hdshp Affidavit May 2010, p. 3,( R. p. 38) and Affidavit Nov. 2014, Exhibit E. (R. p. 151).

Three days after sending the 3<sup>rd</sup> Forbearance Agreement, Respondent initiated this foreclosure action on April 15, 2010. On Sunday April 18, 2010 Appellant was hand delivered via courier the Foreclosure Complaint from Respondent. The Complaint was filed with the Sumter County Court on April 16th, 2010 and signed April 15th, 2010 by Suzanne E. Brown, attorney at Brock and Scott representing Respondent e.g. Compl. p. 5. (R. p. 22).

Monday, April 19, 2010 Appellant contacted Respondent regarding the Complaint and spoke with Quanleticia Anderson. Respondent’s agent told Appellant “there was no sale date and as long as the payments were made per the April 12, 2010 Agreement no foreclosure action would be taken.” Respondent never communicated their intent to foreclose. e.g. Hdshp Affidavit May 2010, p. 3. (R. p. 38 at ¶11).

### **Answer to Foreclosure Complaint**

Appellant answered the Complaint in due course. Appellant requested a Motion to Dismiss e.g. Ans. p.4. (R. p. 27). The answer specifically denied the allegation that Respondent owns and holds the note and mortgage e.g Ans., p. 3-4. (R. pp. 26-27). The answer also raised several affirmative defenses, including a claim that Respondent lacked standing because it did not own the note and mortgage when the foreclosure complaint was filed. e.g. Ans. p. 1- 2. (R. pp. 24-25).

In paragraph 6 page 2 of Respondent's Foreclosure Complaint, Respondent states:

“[o]n July 1, 2003, said Mortgage was recorded in the Sumter County Registry in Mortgage Book 896 at Page 70. Thereafter, the Mortgage was assigned to the Plaintiff herein.” Respondent does not say when or how the transfer of the mortgage or assignment took place. e.g. Compl. p. 2. (R. p. 19).

### **Assignment of Mortgage**

April 23, 2010 Appellant searched the Sumter County Register of Deeds. The county records indicated that Watermark Financial Partners, Inc. was listed as the Mortgagee. There was no assignment of Mortgage recorded to any successors or assigns. Watermark Financial Partners is recorded as the Mortgagee from July 2003 through May 17, 2010. e.g. Ans. p. 1- 2. (R. pp. 24-25).

On May 17, 2010 at 01:42:30 p.m. an Assignment of Mortgage was filed with Sumter County Register of Deeds. Respondent's attorney Suzanne E. Brown is named as Assignor and her signature appears on the Assignment of Mortgage as the Vice President of Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems (MERS) as nominee for Watermark Financial Partners, Inc . The top left corner of the document says “ Prepared by and

return to: BROCK & SCOTT, PLLC Westpark Center 3800 Fernandina Road, Suite 110 Columbia, SC 29210 File No.: 10-08577.<sup>1</sup> e.g. Mot. Dism., Exhibit H, Assignment to Wells. (R. p. 91).

Attorney Brown was acting as V.P. of MERS to allow Respondent to initiate the foreclosure. The document was not attached to Appellant's Complaint, and created a conflict of interest when an attorney for Respondent alleges to also be the V.P. of MERS, assigning a note and mortgage to Respondent, so Respondent could bring a foreclosure action. e.g. Mot. to Dism. P. 4. (R. p. 76). Three years after Respondent alleges it acquired the serving rights to the loan in 2007. e.g., Memo in Oppos. Mot. to Dism. P. 2. (R. p. 95, line 5).

Appellant filed her Answer on May 17, 2010 unaware of the facts regarding the Assignment and transfer of the Note. Respondent did not reply to Appellant's Answer to the Complaint. Appellant did not receive a hearing date for her Motion to Dismiss Foreclosure.

#### **Unapplied Lost Trial Payment**

May and June 2010 Appellant made a \$563.05 under the terms of the forbearance agreement then in force. Affidavit Nov 2014, p.3, Exhibit E & F. (R. pp. 151-158).

As the result of Respondent's own conduct, it declared Appellant had violated the terms of the forbearance agreement, and refused, again, to provide Appellant with a modification determination and placed Appellant's property in "active foreclosure."<sup>2</sup>

Appellant was forced to file for a second bankruptcy Monday, August 2, 2010 to save her home. e.g. Ex. B, Sum. Sch. Dkt. 1, Cs. 11-01994 p.4 of 60 (R. p. 343, line 3).

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant's foreclosure file number with the firm.

<sup>2</sup> On July 5, 2010 Appellant attempted to make the final trial payment through Plaintiff's automated system

#### **IV. PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE BANKRUPTCY COURT**

After the commencement of Appellant's bankruptcy the June 2010 payment was applied to Appellant's mortgage statement dated August 5, 2010. Respondent wrongfully withheld the June 2010 payment from application until August 5, 2010. e.g. Affidavit Nov. 2014 p.3. (R. p. 160).

The case was dismissed on January 19, 2011. e.g. Ex. B, Sum. Sch. Dkt. 1, Cs. 11-01994 p.4 of 60. (R. p. 343, line 3).

Appellant refiled a petition with the bankruptcy court March 28, 2011.

August 2011 Appellant contacted her bankruptcy attorney and asked if the plan could be modified to include September, October, November and December 2011 mortgage payments.<sup>3</sup> The Trustee would not agree to amend the plan but gave Appellant permission to discuss the circumstances with Respondent. Respondent's reply was the settlement order dated January 10, 2012 e.g. Ex. D. Set. Order Dkt. 32, Case 11-01994. (R. p. 438).

The Bankruptcy order stated that Appellant was to continue to remit the regular monthly payment of \$647.64 and cure the post-petition arrearage by making nine (9) consecutive installments of \$379.03 per month commencing on February 2012.

Appellant complied with the order and made payments as follows:

January 2012 \$648.00, February \$648.00 and stipend of \$379.03, March \$648.00 and

---

but the system would not allow it. Instead, the call was routed to the Loss Mitigation Department. Appellant spoke with Respondent's agent Donna Williams who informed Appellant that the June payment of \$563.05 was not received. Appellant advised agent that the payment was delivered to Respondent's Fort Mills, South Carolina location on June 7, 2010. The agent advised Appellant that her account would be noted and someone in management would call within 48 hours regarding the issue. July 2010 Appellant did not receive a return call from anyone on Respondent's management team. Appellant could not get through to Respondent when attempts to call were made. The calls were routed to an automated system and none of the prompts would allow Appellant to actually speak to a live person.

<sup>3</sup>Appellant had emergency issue.

stipend of \$379.03, April \$648.00 and stipend of \$379.03, May \$648.00 and stipend \$379.03, June \$648.00 and stipend of \$379.03, July \$648.00 and stipend of \$379.03, August \$643.00 and stipend of \$379.03. September \$648.00 and stipend of \$379.03, October \$648.00 and stipend of \$379.03. e.g. Ord. Grt. Rel. Stay, Ex #2 Pmt. His. Case 11-01994. (R. p. 219).

The August 2012 regular mortgage payment cleared the bank, however, the stipend of \$379.03 was returned to Appellant's bank on or about September 3, 2012. Appellant immediately contact Respondent to advise there was an issue with her checking account. Respondent's agent Scott S. advised that the check would automatically redeposit. It did not. Appellant mailed a money order of \$379.03 to Respondent to cover the returned check. e.g. Ord. Grt. Rel. Stay, Sept. 26, 2012, Case 11-01994, e.g. Ord. Grt. Rel. Stay, Ex #2 Pmt. His. (R. p. 219, line 13-14).

On or about September 21, 2012 Respondent moved to have the automatic stay lifted. September 25, 2012 it was granted. e.g. Ord. Grt. Rel. Stay, Ex #2 Pmt. His. Case 11-01994.

**V. PROCEEDINGS UPON RETURN TO CIRCUIT COURT**

December 2012 Appellant found issues that appeared to be fraudulent regarding the mortgage and note attached to the Motion for Relief from Automatic Stay and Assignment of Mortgage and Note that is on file with Sumter County Register of Deeds. The bankruptcy attorney advised Appellant the fraudulent issues discovered about the mortgage were civil matters that should be addressed in state court because the property was no longer apart of the bankruptcy. e.g. Memo in Sup. p. 1-2, Nov. 27, 2013. (R. p. 63).

February 2013 Appellant contact Robert C. Ray of the Greenville Bar and discussed the new information that Appellant discovered regarding her mortgage documents. e.g. Memo in Sup. p. 1-2, Nov. 27, 2013. (R. p. 63).

March 2013 Appellant hired Mr. Ray and he contacted Brock and Scott to first seek permission to amend Appellant's *pro se* Answer in lieu of completing the Foreclosure Intervention document forwarded to Appellant. Soon after Appellant hired counsel, Respondent changed its counsel to Womble, Carlyle, Sandridge & Rice of Greenville, S.C. and representatives of the law firm contacted Appellant's counsel. Appellant's attorney had been negotiating Appellant's Amended Answer and Counterclaim with Respondent's new attorney since April 2, 2013. e.g. Memo in Sup. p. 1-2, Nov. 27, 2013 (R. p. 63).

Mr. Ray moved to amend *pro se* answer to include affirmative defenses, counterclaims and crossclaims. A Hearing was held November 20, 2013 and the Order to amend the *pro se* answer was granted December 2, 2013 and filed on the record January 4, 2014. (R. p. 16).

Based on the information discovered regarding the mortgage and assignment Mr. Ray moved to have the foreclosure case dismissed. A hearing was held on April 9, 2014. The motion to dismiss foreclosure was denied April 17, 2014 and filed on the record April 22, 2014. Respondent moved for Summary Judgment May 2014. A hearing was held November 19, 2014. The Order of Summary Judgment was decided January 9, 2015 and filed on the record January 13, 2015. (R. pp. 2-16).

Appellant received written notice of entry for the order of Summary Judgment Friday, January 30<sup>th</sup>, 2015 at 4:53 p.m. via electronic mail from Robert C. Ray, Attorney

stating the Order of Summary Judgment including emails of the decision which, resulted in the conclusion of this case. The email advised Appellant she had until February 12, 2015 to appeal the Order of Summary Judgment. (R. p. 216).

Counsel withdrew representation on Appeal. Appellant was not able to secure a South Carolina attorney. Appellant has prepared this brief *pro se*.

**I. DID THE MASTER IN EQUITY ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON A MISINTERPRETATION OF THE BANKRUPTCY TERM ABANDONMENT?**

**ARGUMENT**

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