THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

FEB 16 2016

The Honorable Richard L. Booth, Master in Equity

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-000349
Circuit Court Case No. 2010-CP-43-00823

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., Respondent,

v.

Delores Prescott and Wells Fargo Financial Bank (SD), Defendants,
of whom

Delores Prescott is the Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

WOMBLE CARLYLE SANDRIDGE & RICE, LLP

S. Sterling Laney, III
550 South Main Street, Suite 400
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 255-5400

M. Todd Carroll
1727 Hampton Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 454-6504

Attorneys for Respondent

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

Accordingly, the trial court rightly relied on both judicial estoppel and res judicata when it held that Ms. Prescott’s surrender of the property, and the Bankruptcy Court’s subsequent amendment of her Chapter 13 plan in light of that surrender, precluded her from contesting Wells Fargo’s foreclosure claim.

B. Because Ms. Prescott affirmed to the Bankruptcy Court both the validity of her note and her default of that note, she is precluded as a matter of law from contesting Wells Fargo’s foreclosure claim.

Prior to forfeiting her interest in the subject property, Ms. Prescott also represented to the Bankruptcy Court that she has an enforceable loan agreement with Wells Fargo on which she had defaulted. In particular, she:

- Identified Wells Fargo as a creditor holding a secured claim (Summary of Schedules at 17 from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 11-1994-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. Mar. 28, 2011); R. p. 356);
- Listed the property at issue here as the security for Wells Fargo’s loan (*id.*);
- Indicated that this loan was in “arrears” (*id.*); and
- Indicated that this secured debt was not “disputed” (*id.*);

all under the penalty of perjury (*id.* at 36; R. p. 375.)

Later, Wells Fargo filed proof of its secured claim, and indicated that the loan was already in arrears. (Wells Fargo's Proof of Claim (Claim No. 3-1) from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 11-1994-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. Apr. 11, 2011); R. pp. 401–412.) Ms. Prescott did not object to that claim, which is not surprising, as she had already conceded these same points in her earlier filings.

And when Wells Fargo sought relief from the automatic stay over this litigation, Ms. Prescott responded as follows: “The Debtor is behind on payments due on this loan, debtor request an agreement allowing time to catch up on payments.” (Prescott's Answer to Motion for Relief from Stay from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 11-1994-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. Dec. 22, 2011) (errors in original); R. p. 432.)

The Bankruptcy Court accepted these representations as true, granted relief from the automatic stay, and specifically held that Ms. Prescott missed payments on the note and “is therefore in default.” (Order Granting Relief from Stay from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 11-1994-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. Sept. 26, 2012); R. p. 442.)¹

Based on these representations and the Bankruptcy Court's acceptance of them, the trial court granted summary judgment in Wells Fargo's favor. That ruling is consistent with settled law, as courts agree—based on res judicata, judicial estoppel, or both—that a party who concedes the existence of a debt in bankruptcy proceedings

¹ These representations were all made almost one year before Ms. Prescott surrendered her interest in the mortgaged property. Ten months after granting Wells Fargo's motion for relief from the automatic stay, the Bankruptcy Court issued another order that confirmed Ms. Prescott's proposed amended Chapter 13 plan that accounted for her surrender of the mortgaged property. (Order Confirming Plan and Resolving Motions from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 11-1994-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. July 17, 2013); R. p. 453.) Because Ms. Prescott both (1) conceded the propriety of Wells Fargo's foreclosure claim and (2) surrendered her interest in the mortgaged property to Wells Fargo, the trial court rightly granted summary judgment on Wells Fargo's foreclosure claim based on either or both sets of Ms. Prescott's representations to the Bankruptcy Court.

cannot later challenge the debt's validity. *See, e.g., Celli v. First Nat'l Bank*, 460 F.3d 289, 295–96 (2d Cir. 2006) (“In summary, we hold that the Chapter 13 bankruptcy confirmation order is res judicata with respect to the debtor’s and the Trustee’s post-confirmation attempt to avoid a confirmed, recorded lien on the debtor’s property where the lien was claimed by FNB at the outset of the bankruptcy proceedings and included by the debtor in his plan.”); *Adair v. Sherman*, 230 F.3d 890, 894–95 (7th Cir. 2000) (“These authorities lead us to the conclusion that, when a proof of claim is filed prior to confirmation, and the debtor does not object prior to confirmation, the debtor may not file a post-confirmation collateral attack that calls into question the proof of claim.”); *First Union Commercial Corp. v. Nelson, Mullins, Riley, & Scarborough*, 81 F.3d 1310, 1317 (4th Cir. 1996) (“Once a plan is confirmed, neither a debtor nor a creditor can assert rights that are inconsistent with its provisions.”); *Mbazira v. Litton Loan Servicing, LLP*, Case No. 10-11831-FDS, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 85271, at *10–11 (D. Mass. July 27, 2011) (“Other courts that have considered post-confirmation attacks on the validity of secured claims have likewise rejected these efforts. . . . Although the matter is typically viewed as a question of res judicata rather than judicial estoppel, several courts of appeals have held debtors estopped from challenging the status of secured claims after confirmation.”).

On appeal, Ms. Prescott now argues that she should not be bound to her representations to the Bankruptcy Court because her response to the Complaint in this case disputed the debt. (Br. of Appellant at 27.) But this position makes little sense in light of the sequence of filings.

This foreclosure action was commenced on April 16, 2010, and Ms. Prescott answered the Complaint a month later. Following her May 2010 pleading in the state court, she made numerous representations to the Bankruptcy Court admitting the amount of her debt, her default under her loan agreement, and Wells Fargo's undisputed status as a secured creditor.

Ms. Prescott made the first of these admissions in an August 2010 bankruptcy filing. (Summary of Schedules at 11 from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 10-5552-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. Aug. 15, 2010); R. p. 301.) And she reiterated the enforceability of Wells Fargo's security interest in repeated bankruptcy filings for nearly three more years:

- March 2011: She filed her schedules of assets and debts under oath, which listed Wells Fargo as a secured creditor with a mortgage on her property. (Summary of Schedules at 17 from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 11-1994-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. Mar. 28, 2011); R. p. 356.)
- April 2011: Wells Fargo filed its proof of claim, to which Ms. Prescott did not object. (Wells Fargo's Proof of Claim (Claim No. 3-1) from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 11-1994-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. Apr. 11, 2011); R. pp. 401–412.)
- December 2011: Ms. Prescott "certified" the validity of Wells Fargo's arguments in favor of relief from the automatic stay, conceded that she is "behind on payments due on this loan," and requested time to "catch up on payments." (Prescott's Answer to Motion for Relief from Stay from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 11-1994-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. Dec. 22, 2011); R. p. 432.)
- June 2013: Ms. Prescott moved to amend her Chapter 13 plan to surrender her interest in the subject property to Wells Fargo. (Prescott's Motion to Modify Chapter 13 Plan at 1, 6 from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 11-1994-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. June 17, 2013); R. pp. 444, 449.)

On July 17, 2013, Judge Duncan accepted Ms. Prescott's representations and issued an order confirming the Chapter 13 plan with the modifications that Ms. Prescott proposed. (Order Confirming Plan and Resolving Motions from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 11-1994-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. July 17, 2013); R. p. 453.)

After making factual representations that induced the Bankruptcy Court to give her the protections afforded by Chapter 13 of the Bankruptcy Code for several years, Ms. Prescott cannot undo the effect of those repeated admissions by pointing to a generic pleading previously filed in her foreclosure case and suggesting that the Bankruptcy Court really should have known that all of her representations to that court were untrue. This attempt to whipsaw two courts with inconsistent representations is precisely the type of misconduct prohibited by judicial estoppel, as well as a party's duty of candor to the court. Rule 3.3(a) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 407, SCACR.

Nor can Ms. Prescott avoid the results of her factual statements to the Bankruptcy Court by arguing that they were erased when her bankruptcy case was dismissed. (Br. of Appellant at 27.) Under the Bankruptcy Code, the dismissal of a case causes only certain rights to re-vest in the debtor; it is not, as Ms. Prescott argues, a magic wand that makes an entire bankruptcy proceeding vanish from the public record. *See generally* 11 U.S.C. § 349 (providing that the dismissal of proceedings reinstates certain types of transactions taken during bankruptcy proceedings, but does not undo or otherwise strike from the record any statement or representation made by a debtor); *In re Parrish*, 275 B.R. 424, 433 (Bankr. D.D.C. 2002) (holding that a trustee is obligated to disburse funds according to a confirmed Chapter 13 plan even after a case is dismissed, and rejecting the argument that dismissal would “require the creditors to return all payments received under the plan to the debtor”).

Dismissal of Ms. Prescott's bankruptcy case several months after the Bankruptcy Court approved and then amended her Chapter 13 plan does not suddenly erase the fact that she enjoyed the protections of the Bankruptcy Code for several years or wipe away

her myriad representations to the Bankruptcy Court that resulted in her enjoying those protections. Instead, Ms. Prescott's repeated, unambiguous representations regarding the debt she owed to Wells Fargo and the Bankruptcy Court's orders issued in reliance on those representations fully satisfy the elements of judicial estoppel and res judicata. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the trial court's application of these doctrines to grant judgment in Wells Fargo's favor regarding its foreclosure claim.

C. Because Ms. Prescott affirmed to the Bankruptcy Court that she did not have any potential claims against Wells Fargo, she is precluded as a matter of law from pursuing her counterclaims.

Just as Ms. Prescott's representations to the Bankruptcy Court bar her ability to challenge Wells Fargo's foreclosure claim, so too do they prohibit her counterclaims.

Despite numerous opportunities—as well as an affirmative duty—to disclose all potential claims she had to her creditors and to the Bankruptcy Court, Ms. Prescott repeatedly stated under oath that she had “NONE.” (Summary of Schedules at 7 from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 10-5552-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. Aug. 15, 2010) (all capitals in original); R. p. 227; Summary of Schedules at 13 from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 11-1994-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. Mar. 28, 2011) (all capitals in original); R. p. 352.) She never supplemented or amended these filings to indicate that she intended to assert claims against Wells Fargo despite the fact that, on appeal, she argues that the factual allegations supporting her undisclosed counterclaims arose before this foreclosure was filed. (*E.g.*, Br. of Appellant at 29.)

Courts agree that Ms. Prescott's failure to disclose any potential claims against Wells Fargo in her sworn bankruptcy filings prohibit her from pursuing claims in later proceedings. *See, e.g., Cannon-Stokes v. Potter*, 453 F.3d 446, 448–49 (7th Cir. 2006)

(affirming trial court's ruling that judicial estoppel barred a claimant from recovering on a claim that was not disclosed in bankruptcy schedules and remarking that this conclusion was uniform among every appellate court that had addressed the issue); *Leible v. Material Control Inc.*, Case No. 13-CV-00047A(Sr), 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 125050, at *8–9 (W.D.N.Y. Sept. 18, 2015) (applying judicial estoppel to preclude a party “from pursuing his personal injury claim” when he failed to disclose it on bankruptcy schedules); *Sprowl v. Prizer, Inc.*, Case No. 8:08-cv-3316-RBH, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 30939, at *15 (D.S.C. Mar. 30, 2010) (“[U]pon review, it appears to the court that Plaintiff may actually be judicially estopped from bringing this suit based on Plaintiff's failure to amend his bankruptcy petition to disclose his potential legal claims.”).

In response to this uniform body of law, Ms. Prescott argues on appeal that she should not be held to her sworn statements to the Bankruptcy Court because she supposedly “notified” Wells Fargo of her “defenses and counterclaims throughout this action.” (Br. of Appellant at 26.) This position is incorrect and is not supported by anything in the record.²

All Wells Fargo knew was the same thing the rest of the world did: Ms. Prescott did not assert any counterclaims in response to the bank's foreclosure complaint (Answer (May 17, 2010); R. p. 24), and then she swore under oath multiple times to the

² The trial court rejected Ms. Prescott's attempts to avoid summary judgment by filing a sham affidavit in which she alleged that Wells Fargo had engaged in “illegal” conduct and had made “misrepresentations” to her—positions that are entirely opposite of those she took before the Bankruptcy Court. (Order at 8 n.1 (Jan. 9, 2015); R. p. 9.) This Court reviews that decision for an abuse of discretion. *McMaster v. Dewitt*, 411 S.C. 138, 144, 767 S.E.2d 451, 454 (Ct. App. 2014). There is no legitimate basis for suggesting that the trial court abused its discretion in disregarding Ms. Prescott's sham affidavit, as she filed it in November 2014 after several years of repeatedly affirming the validity of Wells Fargo's mortgage and her default on the note, and with the specter of summary judgment looming against her.

Bankruptcy Court that she did not have any counterclaims to assert (Summary of Schedules at 7 from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 10-5552-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. Aug. 15, 2010) (all capitals in original); R. p. 227; Summary of Schedules at 13 from *In re Prescott*, Case No. 11-1994-dd (Bankr. D.S.C. Mar. 28, 2011) (all capitals in original); R. p. 352). The Court should reject Ms. Prescott's appellate posturing and, instead, affirm the trial court's straightforward application of judicial estoppel and res judicata to bar her counterclaims.

II. Ms. Prescott's remaining issues are not properly before the Court.

In addition to challenging the trial court's order granting judgment in Wells Fargo's favor, Ms. Prescott's opening brief discusses several peripheral issues that are not properly before the Court:

Collateral Estoppel: In Section III of her brief, Ms. Prescott argues that the trial court improperly relied on the doctrine of collateral estoppel in granting summary judgment. As explained above, though, the trial court based its decision on the doctrines of res judicata and judicial estoppel, not collateral estoppel. As such, the Court should disregard her incorrect arguments on this point.

Amendment of Pleadings: In Section IV of her brief, Ms. Prescott argues that she should have been permitted to amend her answer to assert counterclaims. But the trial court granted her that very relief, and Ms. Prescott amended her pleading to assert counterclaims. (Order (Dec. 2, 2013); R. p. 16.) Her arguments, therefore, are improper for appellate review.

Statutes of Limitations: In Section V of her brief, Ms. Prescott argues that her counterclaims are not prohibited by the applicable statutes of limitations. Her claims failed, though, because they were squarely contradicted by her repeated statements to the

Bankruptcy Court about her note and the mortgaged property, not because of any limitations period. Because the trial court made no rulings based on any statutes of limitations, this issue is not preserved for review.

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